ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. The trial court's ruling that Mr. Rogers' statement was not taken in violation of 
the prompt presentment rule, W.Va. Code § 62-1-5(a)(1) (1997) 
(Repl. Vol.20 10), was erroneous and the statement's admission at trial constitutes 
reversible error. A warrant for Mr. Rogers' arrest was issued on August 29,2010, 
for first degree murder and Mr. Rogers was arrested on August 30, 2010, at 
approximately 3:15 p.m. According to the arresting detective's suppression 
hearing testimony, they drove Mr. Rogers past the courthouse where the on-duty 
magistrate was and took him directly to the sheriffs department/or the purpose 0/ 
taking his statement. 

II. The trial court denied Mr. Rogers due process when it denied counsel's motion to 
withdraw based on an actual conflict 0/interest. The trial court's refusal to allow 
counsel to withdraw denied Mr. Rogers the right to conflict free counsel and is 
reversible error. 

III. The Prosecutor's Improper, Prejudicial Closing Argument denied Mr. Rogers his 
Due Process Right To A Fair Trial. The prosecutor referenced facts not in the 
record, made assertions not supported by the evidence over defense counsel's 
objections, and grossly misstated the law regarding first degree murder, telling 
jurors in the final minutes of closing that "it only takes a moment to plan ahead, it 
only takes a moment to premeditate ... [Mr. Rogers]He premeditated it - - it only 
takes a moment." Tr. d3 140. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Clayton Rogers (hereinafter Mr. Rogers') was arrested on August 30, 2010, on an 

outstanding warrant for the stabbing death of his long time girlfriend Laura Amos (hereinafter 

Amos). Appendix Record (A.R.) 85. Despite the fact Mr. Rogers was under arrest for first 

degree murder, detectives took him directly to the sheriffs department to interview him before 

taking him to the on duty magistrate. A.R. 87. Mr. Rogers was arrested during business hours on 

a Monday afternoon and detectives drove past the courthouse in order to arrive at the sheriffs 

department. Upon presentment to the magistrate, the Kanawha County Public Defender's Office 

was appointed to represent Mr. Rogers. 

Three weeks before Mr. Rogers' trial, counsel realized four of the state's possible 

witnesses had been represented by other lawyers in the public defender's office on impeachable 

felonies. Most troubling was that the state's main lay witness, Keith Hubbard (hereinafter 

Hubbard), had just been counseled and based on his lawyer's advice entered a plea to possession 

of a stolen vehicle. Mr. Hubbard also had two other felony convictions from 2004, credit card 

forgery and entering without breaking, in which he was counseled by a second lawyer in the 

public defender's office. Hubbard was still within the 120 day time limit to file a motion to 

reconsider sentence on the possession of a stolen vehicle and Hubbard's counsel explained a 

motion on Mr. Hubbard's behalf was possible. A.R. 238-39. Mr. Rogers' counsel met with 

management in his office and was instructed to file a motion to withdraw due to a conflict of 

interest. A hearing was held and the motion was denied. A.R. 270-71. 

During closing, the prosecution misrepresented the evidence, made assumptions not 

supported by the evidence and grossly misrepresented the elements of first degree murder, all of 
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which was highly prejudicial to Mr. Rogers' right to a fair trial. Mr. Rogers was convicted by 

the jury of first degree murder without a recommendation ofmercy. A.R. 803, 815-817. 

Detectives Snuffer and Scurlock (hereinafter the detectives or Det. Snuffer/ Det. 

Scurlock) arrived in Charleston, with Clayton Rogers in their custody, at approximately 3:40 or 

3:45p.m., on Monday August 30,2010, which was during nonnal business hours. A.R. 30, 195. 

This, according to the most current Administrative Order establishing the times of Magistrate 

Court, meant there was a magistrate on duty and available to advise Mr. Rogers of the charges he 

faced and, most importantly to advise him and ensure he understood all of the constitutional 

rights and protections he was entitled to due to his arrest.} A.R. 55-57. Mr. Rogers was under 

arrest for murder, a capital offense in this state. A.R. 834. The detectives failed to present Mr. 

Rogers to the on-duty magistrate as is mandated by the laws of this state. Instead, detectives 

intentionally drove past the courthouse and took Mr. Rogers to the sheriffs department so that 

they could interview him. A. R. 86-87. 

The actions of Det. Snuffer and Det. Scurlock on August 30, 2010, demonstrate they 

intended to question Mr. Rogers at the sheriffs department before they took him to the on-duty 

magistrate from the moment he was placed in the cruiser, despite the fact he was under arrest. 

A.R. 86-87, 834, 852. The entire interaction between Mr. Rogers and the detectives was 

recorded, including his transport. A.R. 92. The detectives can be heard on the audio taped 

transport telling Mr. Rogers they need to talk to him about what happened. They wanted to get 

his side of the story. A.R. 837-38. Additionally, detectives can be heard calling a co-worker and 

I A copy of this order is supposed to be on file with the Administrative Office of this Honorable Court pursuant to 
Rule 1 of Magistrate Court Rules. It was not. The current order on file in the Kanawha County Circuit Clerks 
Office is from 2006. Counsel placed a copy of that order in the appendix record. A.R. 55-57 
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instructing that person to buy a value meal and a frosty for Mr. Rogers and bring it to the 

sheriff's department. A.R. 844-46. 2 

At no time during the transport or while he was at the sheriff's department did Mr. 

Rogers state I want to make a statement or I want to tell you what happened. When they arrived 

at the sheriff's department Mr. Rogers was not processed which is the only legitimate reason, 

according to the laws of this state, he could have been taken to the sheriff's department before 

being presented to the on-duty magistrate; instead he was immediately taken to an interview 

room. A.R. 87, 854. Furthermore, both detectives testified during the suppression hearing they 

took Mr. Rogers to the sheriff's department with the specific intention of interviewing him: 

Q So there was already an arrest warrant issued pursuant to that complaint, correct? 

A [Deputy Snuffer] Yes, sir. 

Q Okay. Now, once you got Mr. Rogers back to the station, you began questioning him 
and originally it was done at that point, correct? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q So the primary reason that Mr. Rogers was not taken to the Magistrate after he was 
apprehended was to get the confession from him, right? 

A It's our normal procedure to interview people when we arrest them. 

Q Before you've been to the Magistrate? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And primarily that's the most important thing you do before you take them to the 
Magistrate is to get their side of the story, right. 


A Yes, sir. 


A.R. 101-104 

2Det. Snuffer testifies at the motion hearing as though Mr. Rogers asked for food but that is not the case. In fact, 
Det. Snuffer is the one that asks Mr. Rogers: "Are you still hungry?" "Do you want something besides pizza? A.R. 
844. 
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Q Will you state your name, please? 


A Donald Scurlock. 


Q So after you arrested Mr. Rogers, you went back to the station, the first thing you did was 

take a statement, right? You didn't take him to the Magistrate, you took his statement. 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And you know that after you take him to the Magistrate, you don't get to talk to him 
anymore, right? 

A That's true. 

A.R. 108-115 

Counsel filed a motion to suppress Mr. Rogers Statement based on a violation of prompt 

presentment statute. A hearing was held on counsel's motion and the court incorrectly held that 

he was not entitled to relief because he did not also assert the sentence was involuntary. The 

State claimed Mr. Rogers wanted to talk to detectives, that he indicated he wanted to give a 

voluntary statement, and that is why he was taken to the sheriff's department by the detectives. 

A.R. 112 That is not true. Mr. Rogers was under arrest, in handcuffs, and in the back of a locked 

cruiser. He had no free will in this situation. He was told ''we are going to talk to you when we 

get down here." At no time during his transport did Mr. Rogers tell detectives he wanted to 

make a statement. See generally transcribed audio transport. A.R. 834-53. 3 

Mr. Rogers was questioned for approximately one hour by detectives, he was then 

advised he had the right to prompt presentment and was asked to waive that right so that he 

could assist in the search for the knives. A.R.92, 93, 912. Mr. Rogers told detectives during his 

statement that he remembered throwing his knives as he was going to his friends' house on the 

3 Mr. Rogers' entire interaction with detectives is transcribed. A.R. pages 834-853 is the audio taped transport. The 
fIrst time that detectives asked Mr. Rogers ifhe would talk to them was after they had arrived at the sheriff's 
department and had him in the interview room. A.R. 857 A.R. pages 854- 915 is the transcribed video interview 
that occurred at the sheriff's department. 
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night of the incident. This series of events is disturbing because it further demonstrates 

detectives intentionally failed to advise Mr. Rogers of his right to prompt presentment until after 

he signed a waiver form and gave a statement. A.R. 92, 93. 

Mr. Rogers was then processed by Det. Scurlock after he agreed to accompany detectives 

to search for the knives. A.R. 914. The search for the knives was unsuccessful. A.R. 500. On the 

way back to Charleston, detectives again asked Mr. Rogers what he would like to eat and based 

on his request they purchased food at McDonalds. A.R. 94. Detectives then proceeded to the 

courthouse, ate, and finally took Mr. Roger's for his initial appearance before the on-duty 

magistrate. Mr. Rogers' paperwork reflects the time was 8:06 p.m. A.R. 95. 

On the preceding day, August 29, 2010, Clayton Rogers got up, went to church at 

Manna Meal and then met up with his friends Larry Means and Keith Hubbard at Raymond 

Riffle's house. A.R. 538, 861. They hung out until one o'clock and then went to Go-Mart to buy 

alcohol. The group also had 2 bottles of vodka, in celebration of Mr. Rogers' birthday. A.R. 

539, 862. Vodka is something Mr. Rogers did not normally drink because he cannot handle 

liquor. A.R. 841, 890. Upon returning from Go-Mart, they went to the abandoned house which 

was across the street from Mr. Riffle's and began drinking. No one testified as to a time but at 

some point after the group arrived at the abandoned house, Amos showed up. A.R. 861. The 

group all began drinking large quantities of alcohol in celebration of Mr. Rogers' birthday. A.R. 

543. 

They could not buy alcohol until 1 :00 p.m. because it was Sunday so they could not have 

started drinking the alcohol they purchased until sometime after 1:00 p.m. and the first calls to 

911 occurred at a few minutes after 5 :00 p.m. Greg Lacy (hereinafter Lacy) testified he got off 

work at 3:30 p.m. that day and he walked past the house on his way home. A.R. 541, 586-87. 
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Amos yelled for him to stop so he stopped by for approximately 15 minutes. Lacy testified he 

took 5-6 shots of vodka during the 10 minutes he was at the house. A.R. 590. Mr. Rogers and 

Amos were there talking and sharing a bottle of vodka. Mr. Rogers and Amos had been in an on 

and off relationship for years. When they fought, it was over Amos seeing other men. A.R. 865. 

The night before, on the 28th, Mr. Rogers and Amos exchanged words over her latest 

male friend, Lacy, and this was witnessed by Hubbard. Hubbard was with Amos and Mr. Rogers 

for the majority of the day on the 28th• A.R. 550. That evening, both Hubbard and Amos went to 

Lacy's and spent the night. Amos told Mr. Rogers there was nothing to the rumors about her and 

Lacy. She explained Lacy was saying he proposed to her in an attempt to make his ex-wife 

jealous. A.R. 588, 878. However, at trial Lacy testified he had been dating Amos for 

approximately two weeks at the time of the incident. A.R. 583-84. 

At some point on the afternoon of Mr. Rogers' birthday, Hubbard and Larry Means left 

the abandoned house and returned to Go-Mart. A.R. 545. Mr. Rogers and Amos went into the 

abandoned house not long before they left for Go-Mart. Mr. Rogers stated he did not know if 

Hubbard and Means had returned before he left the house or not. Mr. Hubbard testified he 

thought Mr. Rogers and Amos were gone by the time they returned to the house. Amos' body 

was discovered when someone interested in renting the house wanted to look inside. Hubbard 

immediately ran across the street and requested the neighbor call 911 upon discovery of Amos in 

the house. A.R. 546. 

Mr. Rogers told detectives he panicked, when he was asked why he left the house. A.R. 

874. He went to a friend's house by following a path up the hill directly behind the abandoned 

house. A.R. 602, 871. Alfred Godbey witnessed Mr. Rogers during this trip. He testified that 

Mr. Rogers appeared to be highly intoxicated. Mr. Godbey testified Mr. Rogers was on ground 
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that was not very steep and he would take two steps forward and several steps sideways. He 

testified it took Mr. Rogers 15 minutes to go 20 feet. A.R. 650-51. Mr. Rogers was asked to 

leave his friend's house shortly after he arrived because they were aware of the warrant for his 

arrest. A.R. 604. Upon being advised to leave, Mr. Rogers hid under a house for the remainder of 

that day [29th] and more than half of the next day [30th]. He was without food or water during 

this time. Mr. Rogers surrendered to police upon the advice of his friend, Timothy Ward, who 

was told by officers that if he did not surrender and officers had to bring him in there was a good 

chance Mr. Rogers could be shot. Mr. Ward was able to locate Mr. Rogers and talk him into 

surrendering to officers. A.R. 850-51. 

Mr. Rogers repeatedly told officers he did not remember a lot from the evening before 

but officers refused to believe this and kept pressing Mr. Rogers. A.R. 834, 840, 841, 852, 869, 

870, 875, 877, 885, 887, 888, 890, 892, 909. Mr. Rogers explained he could only remember bits 

and pieces of the evening. Several times during his statement detectives told Mr. Rogers' they 

knew he remembered what happened, otherwise he would not be emotional. A.R. 869-70 

Detectives continued the pressure: 

Scurlock: There's been lots of studies that's been done. A lot of times people 
will want to forget what happened, but rarely did they actually 
forget. 

Rogers: I can't remember. 

Snuffer: Up front, you know we've talked to a lot of people. I can tell you 
now that you've told some people some things that you did and---

Scurlock: And if you did not have any idea of what had happened 

Rogers: I can't remember even telling anybody. 

Scurlock: ---you wouldn't have been hiding under the deck in the woods; 
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Rogers: 1 know I've done something. 1 just couldn't remember what--
how it-what happened, how it transpired. 

A.R.817. 

Mr. Rogers continued to maintain during the entire interview, just like the above excerpt, 

he could not remember and even stated to the detectives, "I am not trying to hide anything." A.R. 

889. " 1 wish to God 1 could. I'm telling the truth. 1 can't really---I can't recall." A.R. 890. At 

one point in the interview, Det. Scurlock asked Mr. Rogers if he had ever drank so much that he 

suffered from a blackout and Mr. Rogers responded:"[y]eah. I've had a few people tell me the 

next day how bad 1 was and 1 couldn't believe it." A.R. 904. Mr. Rogers told officers there had 

been blackout occasions with Amos in which he had got aggressive with her. Id. 

Mr. Rogers stated during the beginning of his statement to detectives, based on their 

prodding, that he "sliced" Amos. He again answered, "I said I cut her throat. Slashed her." 

A.R. 870. Finally, Det. Scurlock asking the same question again ... How did you do it? Rogers, 

"I guess 1 did like this." Det. Scurlock, "Was it a slice or like a stab? Rogers, "Slice" A. R. 

53. This answer does not comport with the physical evidence the state presented because the 

wounds to Amos were stab wounds. The detectives continued pressure and their promises to 

approach the prosecutor and tell the state Mr. Rogers cooperated, that he was a good guy who 

just made a mistake made Mr. Rogers eager to please them. Mr. Rogers' inaccurate, but 

incriminating statement was the only direct evidence the state had in his case. 

The court issued a pretrial order that Mr. Rogers be evaluated based on trial counsel's 

request. Mr. Rogers was evaluated by Bobby Miller (hereinafter Dr. Miller). Dr. Miller 

concluded Mr. Rogers was likely operating in an alcoholic induced black-out at the time of 

the incident. A.R. 4, 10. An indication of just how much alcohol was consumed, in the short 

time everyone was together, can be derived from the fact Ms. Amos' BAC was .25 according to 
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the M.E.'s report. A.R. 635. Dr. Miller specifically stated: '''[b]lackouts' block the 

consolidations ofnew memories into old memories ... " A.R. 10. 

Jurors were never informed of Dr. Miller's findings, nor were jurors infomled of any of 

the other information regarding Mr. Rogers' childhood, his multiple involuntary hospitalizations, 

his past suicide attempts, or his diagnosis ofbi-polar disorder, with admitted noncompliance with 

prescribed medication and his self-medication with alcohol and drugs. A.R. 8-9. The information 

in Dr. Miller's report was significant and important to the jurors' consideration of mercy in Mr. 

Roger's trial. See Generally A.R. 1-10. Unfortunately, no mitigation was presented on Mr. 

Rogers' behalf during his trial. Additionally, and equally troubling is that despite knowledge of 

the findings in Dr. Miller's report the state chose to portray Mr. Rogers to the jury as an 

individual who "conveniently" could remember some details but could not remember significant 

facts about the crime and how it happened- as a liar. A.R. 764-72, 783-88. 

Approximately three weeks before trial4, counsel for Mr. Rogers was provided CIB's on 

the State's list of potential witnesses. At that time, it became apparent to counsel that a major 

conflict of interest existed in his representation of Mr. Rogers. Four of the State's potential 

witnesses had been represented in the past by other members of the Kanawha County Public 

Defender's Office trial staff on offenses that were impeachable. A.R. 237. Most importantly, 

Hubbard, the State's key lay witness, had within the last two months, been represented by 

another lawyer in counsel's office and entered a plea on an impeachable felony (possession of a 

stolen vehicle based on his counsel's advice. He also had two other felony convictions in 

Kanawha County from 2004 in which he was represented by a public defender. Mr. Rogers' 

4 At the hearing on the motion to withdraw, counsel was asked why this motion was filed so close in time to the trial. 
A.R.241 Counsel requested the state provide the records of its witnesses, a routine request. However, at an earlier 
motion hearing the trial court refused to order the State to provide counsel with the records of its witnesses, ruling 
that was ajob the investigators in the public defender's office could complete. A.R. 220-27 

10 




counsel discussed this development with office management, determined this was an "actual 

conflict" and immediately filed a motion to withdraw as counsel due to a conflict of interest. A.R. 

258-59. 

At the hearing on counsel's motion, the managing deputy responsible for conflict checks 

within the public defender office explained to the court how the office processes conflict checks. 

A.R. 237-45. The managing deputy also explained to the trial court Hubbard caused the most 

concern. Then she further explained Hubbard's trial counsel was approached once the conflict 

was discovered in Mr. Rogers' case and Hubbard's counsel informed management that a Rule 

35 motion was not out ojthe question on Hubbard's behalf. A.R. 239. 

George Castelle, the head of the Kanawha County Public Defender's Office, wa') at the 

hearing and was asked by the trial court to join in the discussion regarding the conflict situation. 

He explained to the trial court that in less serious cases when a conflict like this arises within the 

office the individual lawyers impacted are "screened" from the conflicting cases. A.R. 252-53. 

However, he advised the court that in cases like Mr. Rogers it is office policy to follow the 

restrictions of the conflict rules to the letter due to the fact Mr. Rogers faces the possibility of life 

without the possibility of parole. He further explained that is why the office felt it necessary to 

file the motion to withdrawal as counsel in this case. A.R. 252-53, 258-59. 

The majority of the trial court's focus during the hearing was on the tremendous amount 

of state funds that had been expended on Mr. Rogers' case and how much time and effort it 

would take another counsel to come up to speed. A.R. 260-61, 270. Kanawha County 

Prosecuting Attorney, Mark Plants, speaking for the state, explained he would not have a

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