IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


NO. 11-0621 


STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 

Plaintiff Below, Respondent, 

v. 


CLAYTON EUGENE ROGERS, 


Defendant Below, Petitioner. 

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA 

I.

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

Court's finding that simply reading a defendant his Miranda rignts does not nullify the prompt 

presentment rule. See DeWeese, 213 W. Va. at 345, 582 S.E.2d at 792 ("The prompt presentment 

rule is not nullified merely because the police read Miranda warnings to a suspect who is under 

arrest."). Here, however, Detectives Scurlock and Snuffer did much more. "To be sure," these two 

Detectives only read Petitioner his Miranda rights when he was being transported to the station. At 
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the station, however, Detectives Scurlock and Snuffer utilized a Miranda rights form. This form not 

only advised Petitioner of his Miranda rights, it provided for his acknowledgment and waiver of 

these rights, which he knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived. As their testimony makes 

clear, it was only after Petitioner waived his Miranda rights that Detectives Scurlock and Snuffer 

gave Petitioner the opportunity to give his side ofthe story concerning the murder ofLaura Amos.20 

As a final matter on this issue, the amount of, if you will, "countable delay" of Detectives 

Scurlock and Snuffer's presentment ofPetitioner to the magistrate was de minimus. On August 30, 

2010, at 3: 15 p.m., Detectives Scurlock and Snuffer arrested Petitioner, at which point the prompt 

presentment rule was triggered. See Syl. Pt. 2, Humphrey, supra. Immediately after arresting him, 

Detectives Scurlock and Snuffer placed Petitioner in their cruiser and began transporting him to the 

station, during which time these Detectives, at his request, stopped and got Petitioner something to 

eat. Thereafter, at 3 :55 p.m., Detectives Scurlock and Snuffer arrived at the station with Petitioner. 

This transportation time, of course, is not factored into determining whether Petitioner was 

unnecessarily delayed in being taken before the magistrate. See Sugg, 193 W. Va. at 395-96,456 

S.E.2d at 476-77. 

Shortly after arriving at the station at 3:55 p.m., Detectives Scurlock and Snuffer advised 

Petitioner of his Miranda rights, which he waived and agreed to give a statement. At this point, 

these Detectives began interviewing Petitioner, during which time Petitioner admitted that he killed 

Laura Amos. This interview, which was recorded, lasted until 4:50 p.m. Again, this time period 

from 3:55 p.m. to 4:50 p.m., during which Petitioner's statement was taken and recorded, is not 

20 Please note that Petitioner, in this appeal, is not contesting the voluntariness of his 
statement to the police. 
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counted for purposes of the prompt presentment rule. See Sugg, 193 W. Va. at 395-96, 456 S.E.2d 

at 476-77; Syl. Pt. 3, Humphrey, supra. 

Immediately after he confessed to killing Laura Amos, Detectives Scurlock and Snuffer 

began "booking" Petitioner, during which time Petitioner was fingerprinted, photographed, and 

Detectives Scurlock and Snuffer completed their paperwork. Also, during this same time period, 

at his request, Petitioner was allowed to speak to his daughter. Again, for purposes of the prompt 

presentment rule, none ofthis time counted. See Sugg, 193 W. Va. at 395-96, 456 S.E.2dat476-77; 

Persinger, 169 W. Va. at 135-36,286 S.E.2d at 270. 

After speaking to his daughter, and upon his agreement, Detectives Scurlock and Snuffer 

transported Petitioner to the area where he discarded the knives. After arriving at this location, the 

knives were located and secured within 15 to 30 minutes. Again, the time spent transporting, 

locating and securing these knives is factored out for purposes ofthe prompt presentment rule. See 

Persinger, 169 W. Va. at 135-36,286 S.E.2d at 270. 

After giving his confession, being transported to the location where he discarded the knives, 

as well as the locating and securing of these knives, Detectives Scurlock and Snuffer transported 

Petitioner back to the station. The Detectives and Petitioner arrived back at the station between 

7 :00-8:00 p.m. where, pursuant to his request, Petitioner was allowed to eat again. During this time 

period, the magistrate was not available, as the magistrate's office was closed between the hours of 

6:00 p.m. and 8:00 p.m. Thereafter, at 8:00 p.m. when the magistrate became available, Petitioner 

was presented to the magistrate. Obviously, the period between 6:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. is not 

counted for determining whether Petitioner was promptly presented to the magistrate, as no 

magistrate was available during this time. Furthermore, as this Court has made clear, none of the 
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time following his confession is taken into account for purposes ofthe prompt presentment rule. See 

Syl. Pt. 4, Humphrey, supra; Sugg, 193 W. Va. at 396 n.7, 456 S.E.2d at 477 n.7. 

In short, Petitioner was not unnecessarily delayed in being presented to a magistrate. In fact, 

the entire delay lasted four hours and 45 minutes, from 3: 15 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. The vast majority of 

this time, as discussed above, is not countable for purposes of the prompt presentment rule. 

Subtracting out this non-countable time leaves a de minimus time period, around 40 minutes, for 

purposes of determining whether Petitioner was promptly presented to the magistrate. Given this 

de minimus amount oftime, as well as his giving of a voluntary statement to Detectives Scurlock 

and Snuffer, the court, and correctly so, found that Petitioner's prompt presentment rights were not 

violated in this case. See generally App. R. 207-15. 21 

B. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN DENYING 
PETITIONER'S COUNSEL'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW AS 
PETITIONER'S COUNSEL DUE TO A CONFLICT OF INTEREST. 

1. 	 Standard of Review 

[T]he United States Supreme Court found the trial court should be afforded 
considerable latitude in making its determination to disqualify a criminal defense 
attorney due to a conflict of interest. Recognizing the trial court's need for latitude, 
several courts have applied an abuse ofdiscretion standard when reviewing decisions 
on disqualification motions. We agree that this is the appropriate standard ofreview. 

State ex reI. Blake v. Hatcher, 218 W. Va. 407, 417-18, 624 S.E.2d 844,854-55 (2005) (citations 

omitted). 

21 Please note that the court did find that Detectives Scurlock and Snuffer took Petitioner to 
the station for the purpose ofobtaining a statement from him. See generally App. R. 208. Although 
the State, obviously, agrees with the court's finding that the prompt presentment rule was not 
violated in this case, it does disagree, for all ofthe reasons discussed above, with the court's finding 
on this point. 
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2. Applicable Rules 

On appeal, Petitioner asserts that the court committed error in denying his counsel's, Jason 

Parmer's ("Counsel Parmer"), Motion to withdraw as his counsel during his trial. In support ofthis 

assertion, Petitioner argues that Counsel Parmer had an actual conflict of interest in representing 

him, as Counsel Parmer was a public defender and the Public Defender's Office had represented 

several ofthe prosecution's potential witnesses in previous matters. This conflict ofinterest, argues 

Petitioner, prejudiced him at trial, thus violating his right to conflict free counsel under the Sixth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution.22 The State disagrees. 

The main provision ofthe Rules ofProfessional Conduct that governs this situation, W. Va. 

R. Prof. Conduct 1.9, provides that 

[a] lawyer who has formerly represented a client in a matter shall not thereafter: 

(a) represent another person in the same or substantially related matter in which that 
person's interests are materially adverse to the interests of the former client unless 
the former client consents after consultation; or 

(b) use information relating to the representation to the disadvantage of the former 
client except as Rule 1.6 or Rule 3.3 would permit or require with respect to a client 
or when the information has become generally known. 

In interpreting and applying this Rule, as well as conflict-of-interest issues in general, this 

Court, in its various decisions, focuses on (1) whether the conflicted attorney was involved in the 

same or a substantially related matter involving the former client and current client in which the 

current client's interests are materially adverse to the interests of the former client; (2) whether the 

former client, as well as the current client, consents to the conflicted attorney's continued 

22 See Blake, 218 W. Va. at 413-14,624 S.E.2d at 850-51 ("Where representation is affected 
by an actual conflict of interest, the defendant can not be said to have received effective assistance 
of counsel as required by the Sixth Amendment."). 
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representation; (3) whether the information relating to the representation ofthe former client, as well 

as the current client, will be used to the disadvantage of the former client or current client; and (4) 

whether the information concerning the former client is generally known.23 

"Rule 1.9(a) ofthe Rules ofProfessional Conduct, precludes an attorney who 
has formerly represented a client in a matter from representing another person in the 
same or a substantially related matter that is materially adverse to the interest of the 
former client unless the former client consents after consultation." 

Syl. Pt. 4, State ex reI. Bluestone Coal Corp. v. Mazzone, 226 W. Va. 148,697 S.E.2d 740 (2010) 

(quoting Syl. Pt. 2, State ex reI. AdcClanahan v. Hamilton, 189 W. Va. 290, 430 S.E.2d 569 

(1993». "'Under Rule 1.9(a) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, determining whether an 

attorney's current representation involves a substantially related matter to that of a former client 

requires an analysis of the facts, circumstances, and legal issues of the two representations. '" Syl. 

Pt. 5, West Virginia Canine College, Inc. v. Rexroad, 191 W. Va. 209, 444 S.E.2d 566 (1994) 

(quoting Syl. Pt. 3, McClanahan, supra). 

"Under West Virginia Rule ofProfessional [Conduct] 1.9( a), a current matter 
is deemed to be substantially related to an earlier matter in which a lawyer acted as 
counsel if (1) the current matter involves the work the lawyer performed for the 
former client; or (2) there is a substantial risk that representation ofthe present client 
will involve the use of information acquired in the course ofrepresenting the former 
client, unless that information has become generally known." 

Syl. Pt. 8, Bluestone Coal Corp., supra (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, State ex reI. Keenan v. Hatcher, 210 W. 

Va. 307, 557 S.E.2d 361 (2001». 

When the information that is the subject of a disqualification motion 
predicated on prospective representation was "generally known" or otherwise 
disclosed to individuals other than prospective counsel, the information cannot serve 

23 This inquiry, or so it appears, amounts to nothing more than determining whether the 
attorney's representation ofthe current client, given his representation ofthe former client, presents 
an actual conflict of interest. 
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as a basis for disqualification under Rule 1.9 of the Rules of Professional Conduct. 

Syl. Pt. 4, State ex rei. Youngbloodv. Sanders, 212 W. Va. 885,575 S.E.2d 864 (2002). 

Before disqualification of counsel can be ordered on grounds of conflict 
arising from confidences presumably disclosed in the course ofdiscussions regarding 
a prospective attorney-client relationship, the court must satisfy itself from a review 
ofthe available evidence, including affidavits and testimony ofaffected individuals, 
that confidential information was in fact discussed. 

Id. at Syl. Pt. 3. 

When presented with a disqualification motion involving communications 
between an individual and prospective counsel, trial courts must carefully examine 
all relevant evidence that bears on the pivotal issue of whether confidential 
information has been disclosed which would impinge upon the attorney's right to 
zealously represent the current client or his duty to protect the confidences of the 
prospective client. 

Id. at Syl. Pt. 6. 

An adverse interest, also termed a conflict of interest, can occur in a variety 
of situations. It is impossible to devise a single statement that will reveal whether 
an interest is adverse. The resolution ofthe issue rests on first determining whether 
a substantial relationship existed between the two clients' interests. Next, 
consideration should be given by the court as to whether the attorney's exercise of 
individual loyalty to one client might harm the other client or whether his zealous 
representation will induce him to use confidential information that could adversely 
affect the former client. 

State ex rei. McClanahan v. Hamilton, 189 W. Va. 290, 294,430 S.E.2d 569, 573 (1993) (citations 

omitted). 

The effective performance ofcounsel requires meaningful compliance with the duty 
of loyalty and the duty to avoid conflicts of interest, and a breach of these basic 
duties can lead to ineffective representation. More than a mere possibility of a 
conflict, however, must be shown. The Sixth Amendment is implicated only when 
the representation of counsel is adversely affected by an actual conflict of interest. 
When counsel for a defendant in a criminal case has an actual conflict of interest 
when representing the defendant and the conflict adversely affects counsel's 
performance in the defense of the defendant, prejudice to the defense is presumed 
and a new trial must be ordered. 
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Blake, 218 W. Va. at 414 n.4, 624 S.E.2d at 851 n.4 (quoting United States v. Tatum, 943 F.2d 370, 

375 (4th Cir.199l)). 

Under state and federal constitutional law, "a defendant who shows that a conflict 
of interest actually affected the adequacy ofhis representation need not demonstrate 
prejudice in order to obtain relief." "To demonstrate an actual conflict, the defendant 
must identify specific evidence in the record that suggests that his or her interests 
were compromised." 

State ex reI. Dunlap v. McBride, 225 W. Va. 192, 203, 691 S.E.2d 183, 194 (201O)(citations 

omitted). 

It has been recognized that "[t]he mere possibility of a conflict of interest is 
insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction." A defendant seeking to overturn a 
conviction based upon a potential conflict "will be entitled to a new trial only ifhe 
can establish 'material prejudice' to his defense resulting from the alleged conflict." 

Id (citation omitted). 

3. 	 No Actual Conflict of Interest Exist in This Case. Petitioner's 
Counsel did not Represent Hubbard in any Previous Matters
Such Representation was Carried out by Another Member of the 
Public Defender's Office. Prior to his Representation of 
Petitioner, Petitioner's Counsel was not Privy to any 
Confidential Information Arising out of the Public Defender's 
Office's Previous Representation of Hubbard; nor was any of 
This Information Passed to Petitioner's Counsel After he 
Undertook the Representation of Petitioner. Any Information on 
Hubbard That Petitioner's Counsel Possessed was Generally 
Known, as it was a Matter of Public Record. 

As noted above, in asserting that his right to conflict free counsel was violated in this case, 

Petitioner argues that his trial counsel, Counsel Parmer, had an actual conflict of interest in 

representing him, as Counsel Parmer was a public defender and the Public Defender's Office had 

represented Keith Hubbard in previous matters. 24 This conflict of interest, argues Petitioner, 

24 Petitioner also points out on appeal that Counsel Parmer, prior to trial, realized that, in 
(continued ... ) 
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prejudiced him at trial, thus violating his right to conflict free counsel under the Sixth Amendment 

to the United States Constitution. Not at all. 

First of all, Counsel Parmer did not represent Hubbard in any previous matters handled by 

the Public Defender's Office. App. R. 236, 264. These other matters were actually handled by other 

lawyers at the Public Defender's Office.25 App. R. 238-39. Furthermore, Counsel Parmer did not 

have any confidential information, from reading files or otherwise, concerning the Public Defender's 

Office's representation ofHubbard in these previous matters. App. R. 236,264. Additionally, as 

a means of impeaching him at Petitioner's trial, Counsel Parmer intended to rely solely on the 

complaints and criminal records ofHubbard's previous convictions, which were generally known, 

as they were a matter ofpublic record.26 App. R. 236,248,265. Based on this, and more, the court 

denied Counsel Parmer's Motion to withdraw as Petitioner's trial counsel. App. R. 269-71. 

24(... continued) 
addition to Hubbard, three other potential witnesses for the prosecution. had been previously 
represented by other attorneys in the Public Defender's Office. These other witnesses included 
David Edwards, Daniel Ward and Timothy Ward. App. R. 235. However, the prosecution never 
actually called these potential witnesses to testify at Petitioner's trial. Thus, any conflict ofinterest, 
actual or otherwise, regarding these other witnesses was mooted by the prosecution's decision not 
to put these other witnesses on the stand.

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